FILED  
Apr 20, 2016  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

E

FILED  
E MAY 11 2016

WASHINGTON STATE  
SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. 93115-1

NO. 73155-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TARAILLE CHESNEY,

Petitioner.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Timothy A. Bradshaw, Judge

---

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

---

MARY T. SWIFT  
Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC  
1908 East Madison  
Seattle, WA 98122  
(206) 623-2373

**

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

CrR 3.6(b) mandates that, after an evidentiary hearing on a motion to suppress, the trial court "shall enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law." CrR 6.1(d) likewise requires entry of written findings of fact and conclusions of law after a bench trial. The trial court failed to enter written CrR 3.6(b) and 6.1(d) findings and conclusions until after Chesney filed his opening brief on appeal. The court of appeals refused to remand, concluding RAP 7.2(e) did not apply and Chesney failed to show prejudice from the belatedly entered findings.

Does the court of appeals' decision conflict with RAP 7.2(e), the plain language of CrR 3.6(b) and 6.1(d), as well as this Court's decision in State v. Friedlund, 182 Wn.2d 388, 341 P.3d 280 (2015)?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Chesney with one count of unlawful possession of cocaine. CP 1-5. The trial court held CrR 3.5 and 3.6 hearings on the

parties' motions, and made rulings adverse to Chesney on both. RP 62-63, 70-75; CP 10-14, 29-32. The court entered written findings of facts and conclusions of law pursuant to CrR 3.5, but did not enter any written CrR 3.6 findings and conclusions. CP 29-32.

Chesney then waived his right to a jury trial and agreed to a stipulated facts bench trial. RP 95-98; CP 15-18. The court found Chesney guilty, relying in part on the testimony, findings, and conclusions from the CrR 3.5 and 3.6 hearings. RP 98-99; CP 15-16. The court did not enter any written CrR 6.1(d) findings and conclusions following the bench trial.

Chesney appealed, arguing the trial court's failure to comply with CrR 3.6(b) and CrR 6.1(d) required remand for entry of written findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 45. Thereafter, the State requested the trial court enter written findings. The trial court did so on August 21, 2015, without requesting permission to do so from the court of appeals under RAP 7.2(e). Br. of Resp't, Appendix A. The State then designated these belated written findings as supplemental clerk's papers. CP 69-90. In its response brief, the State argued these findings were properly before the court of appeals and remand was therefore unnecessary. Br. of Resp't, at 2-4.

Chesney asserted the trial court lacked authority to enter belated findings and conclusions under RAP 7.2(e) and this Court's decision in Friedlund. Reply Br., at 1-2. Chesney accordingly asked the Court of

Appeals to vacate the belatedly entered findings and remand to the trial court for proper entry of written findings and conclusions. Reply Br., at 2.

The court of appeals rejected Chesney's argument, holding the State "properly supplemented the appellate record." Opinion, at 4. The court concludes "findings and conclusions may be submitted and entered even while an appeal is pending if the defendant is not prejudiced by the belated entry of findings." Opinion, at 2. The court reasoned "no effective relief is available to Chesney" because "the trial court would enter the same findings and conclusions" on remand. Opinion, at 4.

The court of appeals acknowledged this Court held in Friedlund that "[b]ecause the trial court failed to obtain our permission prior to entering its written findings, entering the findings violated RAP 7.2(e)." Opinion, at 3-4 (quoting Friedlund, 182 Wn.2d at 396). The court of appeals nevertheless believed Friedlund was "inapposite" because the Friedlund Court "based its conclusion on the unique policy concerns underlying the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA)." Opinion, at 4.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THE CRIMINAL RULES, RAP 7.2(e), AND THIS COURT'S DECISION IN FRIEDLUND.

The court of appeals' decision is in direct conflict with RAP 7.2(e), the plain language of CrR 3.6(b) and CrR 6.1(d), and this Court's decision in Friedlund. This Court's review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Further, timely entry of written findings of fact and conclusions of law after suppression hearing and after a bench trial safeguards a criminal defendant's right to appeal and allows for meaningful appellate review. This Court's review is therefore also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (b)(4), because this is a significant question of constitutional law and an issue of substantial public interest.

After an evidentiary hearing on a motion to suppress, the trial court "shall enter written findings of facts and conclusions of law." CrR 3.6(b) (emphasis added). Likewise, a trial court sitting as the trier of fact must enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law: "In a case tried without a jury, the court shall enter findings of fact and conclusions of law. In giving the decision, the facts found and the conclusions of law shall be separately stated." CrR 6.1(d) (emphasis added); accord State v. Head, 136 Wn.2d 619, 622-26, 964 P.2d 1187 (1998). The trial court and the prevailing party share



the responsibility to see that appropriate findings are entered. See State v. Vailencour, 81 Wn. App. 372, 378, 914 P. 2d 767 (1996).

“Without comprehensive, specific written findings, the appellate court cannot properly review the trial court’s resolution of the disputed facts and its application of the law to those facts.” State v. Greco, 57 Wn. App. 196, 204, 787 P.2d 940 (1990). The court’s oral findings are not binding and cannot replace written findings. Head, 136 Wn.2d at 622; State v. Hescocck, 98 Wn. App. 600, 605-06, 989 P.2d 1251 (1999). A defendant should not “be forced to interpret an oral ruling in order to appeal his or her conviction.” Head, 136 Wn.2d at 624. Thus, the proper remedy is to vacate the judgment and sentence and remand to the trial court for entry of written findings and conclusions. Id. at 624-26.

In Friedlund, this Court considered two consolidated appeals in which the trial courts made oral findings but failed to enter written findings articulating the reasons for imposing an exceptional sentence. 182 Wn.2d at 391-92. When a trial court imposes an exceptional sentence, the SRA “requires the court to ‘set forth the reasons for its decision in written findings of fact and conclusions of law.’” Id. at 394 (emphasis in original) (quoting RCW 9.94A.535).

The Friedlund Court concluded that even where a trial court makes comprehensive oral findings, failure to enter written findings “ignores the

plain language of the statute.” Id. Lack of written findings “also deprive[s] defendants of the finality accorded by the inclusion of written findings in the court’s formal judgment and sentence.” Id. Therefore, this Court held, “[t]he remedy for a trial court’s failure to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law is to remand the case for entry of those findings and conclusions.” Id. at 395.

In Friedlund’s case, the trial court entered belated written findings, several months after the supreme court accepted review. Id. at 393, 395. But RAP 7.2(e) limits the superior court’s authority to modify a criminal judgment. Id. The rule “explicitly requires the superior court to obtain permission from the appellate court before making any determination that would ‘change a decision then being reviewed by the appellate court.’” Id. at 395-96 (quoting RAP 7.2(e)). A trial court’s belated entry of findings “alters the decision under review.” Id. at 396. As such, this Court held “the trial court lacked authority to enter its findings under RAP 7.2(e)” without first obtaining the appellate court’s permission. Id. at 395.

In reaching this conclusion, this Friedlund court explained “[a] contrary holding would deprive Friedlund of his right to appeal.” Id. RCW 9.94A.585(2) gives defendants the right to appeal an exceptional sentence. Id. Given the belated entry of findings, “Friedlund had no opportunity to appeal the written findings undergirding his exceptional sentence.” Id. This

Court accordingly denied the State's motion to supplement the record with the trial court's belatedly entered findings. Id.

The reasoning and rule of Friedlund apply with equal force to CrR 3.6(b) and CrR 6.1(d) findings. A court's written findings essentially define the scope of appellate review. This Court has explained:

The purpose of the requirement of findings and conclusions is to insure the trial judge "has dealt fully and properly with all the issues in the case before he decides it and so that the parties involved and this court on appeal may be fully informed as to the bases of his decision when it is made."

In re Detention of LaBelle, 107 Wn.2d 196, 218-19, 728 P.2d 138 (1986) (quoting State v. Agee, 89 Wn.2d 416, 421, 573 P.2d 355 (1977)). Written findings ensure "meaningful review." Id. at 218.

Indeed, when reviewing the denial of a CrR 3.6 motion, an appellate court must determine whether substantial evidence supports the challenged findings of fact and whether the findings support the conclusions of law. State v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). Likewise, it makes no sense to actually enforce the written findings requirement with regard to exceptional sentences but not with bench trials. Just like an exceptional sentence, a criminal defendant has the right to appeal his conviction after a bench trial. RAP 2.2(a). Like the petitioners in Friedlund, Chesney was effectively deprived "of his right to appeal" without written findings. Friedlund, 182 Wn.2d at 396.

“In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have . . . the right to appeal in all cases.” WASH. CONST. art. 1, § 22. The criminal rules require trial courts to enter written findings after a suppression hearing and after a bench trial for a reason: to enable appellate review. Without those findings, a criminal defendant’s ability to challenge a trial court’s decision is severely hampered, burdening his or her right to appeal. The court of appeals’ decision cannot be sustained in light of Friedlund.