RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Sep 27, 2016, 3:23 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SOUREME COOK! OF T	TESTATE OF WASHINGTON
STATE OF WASHINGTON,)
Respondent,)) NO. 93115-1
vs.)) ANSWER TO PETITION FOR) REVIEW
TARAILLE DUJUAN CHESNEY,) NEVIEW
Petitioner.	<i>)</i>)
))

IN THE SUPPEME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

1. <u>IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY</u>

Petitioner Chesney has filed a petition for review and the State of Washington files this answer.

2. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

The State of Washington respectfully argues that review is not required under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3) because there is no conflict in decisions, nor is there a constitutional issue presented. However, the State respectfully notes that that this Court may wish to grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) to clarify the analysis of RAP 7.2 that is contained in State v. Friedlund, 182 Wn.2d 388, 341 P.3d 280 (2015). Litigants and the Court of Appeals should know how to properly interpret that rule.



3. FACTS RELEVANT TO MOTION

Taraille Chesney was charged by information with violation of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, possession of cocaine. CP 1-5. Trial began in December 2014. The trial court held CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 hearings. The court granted the State's motion to admit custodial statements pursuant to CrR 3.5, but it denied Chesney's CrR 3.6 motion to suppress evidence. RP 61-64, 70-75. Chesney waived his right to a jury trial. CP 25. The trial court found Chesney guilty based on stipulated facts. RP 98-99; CP 15-24. At sentencing, the court imposed a residential drug offender sentencing alternative with inpatient treatment. RP 115-116; CP 35-43. Findings of fact and conclusions of law were prepared and filed at sentencing pursuant to CrR 3.5, but the court failed to immediately file findings and conclusions pursuant to CrR 3.6 and CrR 6.1. CP 29-32.

Chesney's opening brief on appeal argued that his conviction should be remanded because the findings were missing; Chesney did not allege (much less argue) that the trial court had erred in denying his CrR 3.6 motion or in finding him guilty as charged. His opening brief did not discuss Friedlund.

Upon receipt of Chesney's appellate brief, the State presented written findings to the trial court based on the trial court's oral rulings and the trial court signed those findings and filed them. *Compare* CP 69-72 and 73-75 with RP 70-75. The findings were designated for appellate review pursuant to RAP 9.6 and the State filed its response brief. The State argued that Chesney's convictions should be affirmed because there was no error below, the failure to file written findings earlier had not prejudiced Chesney, and a remand to the trial court would serve no purpose. Brief of Resp. at 2-4.

Chesney argued in his reply brief that remand was required under State v. Friedlund, because a trial court may not—without permission from the appellate court—enter findings after appellate review has begun, and because an appellant is denied his right to appeal if such findings are not prepared. Reply Brief at 1-2. Chesney has not raised any substantive challenge to the trial court's written findings.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction and refused the request for a remand "because [Chesney] shows no prejudice from the trial court's delayed entry of its findings and conclusion." State v. Chesney, No. 73155-6-I, slip op. at 2, (filed 2/29/16). The court noted that the

written findings were consistent with the trial court's oral rulings and there was no allegation or indication that the findings had been tailored to issues on appeal. Chesney, at 3. The court also noted that Friedlund was distinguishable because it dealt with findings supporting an exceptional sentence, and that Chesney was not denied his right to appeal a sentence like Friedlund was.

4. ARGUMENT

A. <u>FRIEDLUND</u> IS NOT CONTROLLING.

Chesney argues that review is appropriate in this case because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the criminal rules, the rules of appellate procedure, and with <u>Friedlund</u>. He is mistaken. <u>Friedlund</u> is distinguishable as a matter of fact and law.

Friedlund involved two consolidated cases from Stevens

(Friedlund) and Kittatas (Volk) Counties where the sentencing court had imposed exceptional aggravated sentences but had failed to file written findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by statute. As to both petitioners, the trial court never filed findings of fact and conclusions of law justifying an exceptional sentence until after the Division Three of the Court of Appeals had issued a decision affirming the sentence. The State

argued that "written findings are a mere formality when the trial record satisfies the requirements under RCW 9.94A.585." As to belated efforts to complete the record for this Court's review, the State simply cited RAPs 1.2 and 18.8. It did not cite to or discuss RAP 7.2(e).

In its decision, this Court framed the issue as "whether an on-the-record oral ruling may substitute for written findings when a trial court imposes an exceptional sentence that is outside the standard sentence range for an offense." Friedlund, at 390. This Court rejected the argument that findings were a "mere formality" and held that without written findings as to the basis for an exceptional sentence, a defendant might not be able to meaningfully pursue an appeal. Friedlund, at 393 ("We hold that an oral colloquy, even if on the record, cannot satisfy the SRA's requirements that findings justifying an exceptional sentence must be in writing.").

This case is quite different. Here, the trial court filed the required findings as soon as it realized its oversight. The State did not argue, and

¹ See, e.g. State v. Volk, No. 89926-6, Motion to Supplement the Record (available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/89926-6%20Motion%20to%20-Supplement%20Record.pdf) and RESPONSE OPPOSING PETITION FOR REVIEW, at 9 (referring to findings as a "mere formality").

the Court of Appeals did not hold, that findings were superfluous. Thus, unlike in <u>Friedlund</u>, Chesney was not deprived of his right to a meaningful appeal; he plainly had the opportunity to challenge the trial court's rulings after the written findings were filed.²

Moreover, the briefing in <u>Friedlund</u> shows that both Friedlund and Volk assigned error in their opening briefs to the trial court's exceptional sentence, indicating that they believed the sentence to be excessive and inappropriate. In this case, Chesney did not present any substantive argument that the trial court's suppression ruling or its finding of guilt was deficient.

This case differs from <u>Friedlund</u> in another respect. In <u>Friedlund</u>, this Court noted in passing that findings presented after appellate review had been conducted would "change the decision then being reviewed by the appellate court" because the findings had been expressly incorporated by the judgment and sentence. <u>Friedlund</u>, at 395-96. The judgment and sentence in Chesney's case does not, however, expressly incorporate the CrR 3.6 ruling, nor does it contain a reference to written findings of guilty. Thus, the findings in this case do not change the decision under review in

² The State does not suggest that this practice is desirable; it only suggests that remand is not required to remedy the omission.

the manner alluded to in Friedlund.

For these reasons, <u>Friedlund</u> is not controlling, so there is no conflict necessitating review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. THE ANALYSIS OF RAP 7.2 IN <u>FRIEDLUND</u> WAS NEVER BRIEFED AND IS FLAWED; REVIEW MIGHT BE APPROPRIATE TO CLARIFY THE ANALYSIS.

Even though there are distinctions between this case and <u>Friedlund</u>, it will likely be useful to appellate litigants and the Court of Appeals for this Court to grant review and consider more fully whether and how finding of fact and conclusions of law can be entered once an appeal has been initiated. In particular, this Court should more carefully examine the meaning of the phrase "change a decision then being reviewed by the appellate court." RAP 7.2(e). That phrase must be read in the context of the rule as a whole.

The rule is entitled, "Authority of the Trial Court After Review is Accepted." It provides in pertinent part that

After review is accepted by the appellate court, the trial court has authority to act in a case only to the extent provided in this rule, unless the appellate court limits or expands that authority as provided in rule 8.3.

RAP 7.2(a). The very first exception to this rule, however, provides that

the trial court has the authority to settle the record. RAP 7.2(b).

Formalizing an oral ruling by reducing it to writing as required by statute or by court rule is a classic example of "settling the record." Thus, RAP 7.2(b) allows the trial court to enter written findings of fact and conclusions of law after review has been accepted in the appellate court. This provision of the rule was not addressed in <u>Friedlund</u>, likely because it was not discussed in the briefing.

Subsection (e) of RAP 7.2 was discussed in Friedlund, but that subsection concerns a different limit on the trial court's ability to act. That portion of the rule concerns post-trial motions. The State did not make a post-trial motion in this case; it simply asked the trial court to settle the record. Thus, RAP 7.2(e) is inapposite. By simply asking the trial court to settle the record, the State was not asking the court to change its existing decision in any regard; it was simply asking it to formalize that decision. Subsection (b) of RAP 7.2 becomes largely superfluous if any request for a written decision is equivalent to "changing" the decision. To the extent Friedlund might be interpreted to suggest that merely entering written findings changes a trial court decision, the language of the decision should be clarified.

For these reasons, this Court should grant review to correct the possible misimpression created by some of the language in <u>Friedlund</u>.

Submitted this 27 day of September, 2016.

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

James M. Whisman, WSBA # 19109
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002

W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA 98104-2385 (206) 477-9497 FAX (206) 205-0924